FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 30 19941

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MELVIN TROTTER,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chilef Deputy Clerk

Appellant,

•

Case No. 82,142

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs.

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR MANATEE COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DOUGLAS S. CONNOR ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 350141

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33830 (813) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

SERVED 99 DAYS LATE

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of documents filed with the clerk of court numbered 000001 through 000589, followed by transcripts from motion hearings and the trial numbered 1 through 2195. References to the record filed with the clerk will be designated "R", followed by the appropriate page number. References to the transcripts will be designated "T", followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Manatee County grand jury returned an indictment on June 20, 1986 charging Melvin Trotter, Appellant, with first degree murder in the stabbing death of Virgie Langford (R1-2). He was tried in 1987, found guilty and sentenced to death. On appeal to this Court, Trotter's conviction was affirmed but the sentence was vacated. Trotter v. State, 576 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1990). A new penalty proceeding before a new jury was ordered because evidence of Appellant's status on community control at the time of the homicide was admitted and considered as an aggravating circumstance. 576 So. 2d at 694.

On remand to the circuit court, the parties agreed that the State Attorney for the Twelfth Judicial Circuit should be disqualified (R95). An amended order dated January 24, 1992, was entered to provide for disqualification and requesting appointment of a special prosecutor (R98-9). On January 31, 1992, Governor Chiles

issued Executive Order No. 92-30 which assigned the State Attorney for the Sixth Judicial Circuit to handle the prosecution (R100-02).

A hearing on pretrial motions was held before Circuit Judge Stephen Dakan on November 13, 1992 (T1-199). The first to be considered was Appellant's "Motion to Preclude Prior Convictions as Aggravators" (R214-24). After hearing testimony regarding Appellant's claim that his plea to a 1985 robbery had been involuntary, the court ruled that the two year time limitation contained within Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 barred any relief (T110-2).

Next, the court considered Appellant's "Motion to Prohibit Application of Florida Statute 921.141 (5)(a)" (R372-4). Counsel pointed out that since the Florida Supreme Court's decision vacating Trotter's death sentence, the Legislature amended the death penalty statute to provide that being on community control is sufficient to apply the "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravating circumstance (T117-9). If the amended statute were applied to Appellant, it would violate the state and federal constitutional provisions against ex post facto laws (T119-21, R372-4). It would also violate the principle of "law of the case" because this was the specific relief that Appellant obtained in his prior appeal (T121, R374). The court ruled that the State could rely upon the amended aggravating circumstance because penalty proceedings are governed by the "so-called clean slate rule" (T130).

Appellant also argued his "Motion to Prohibit Application of Fla. Stat. 921.141 (7)" (R244-7), and his "Motion to Exclude Evidence or Argument Designed to Create Sympathy for the Deceased"

(R225-43). The judge ruled that his decision on the <u>ex post facto</u> question involving community control as an aggravating circumstance was also applicable to allowing the State to present victim impact evidence under the newly enacted statute (T145). Although he noted "some problem of disadvantage", the judge again relied upon the "so-called clean slate" rule to deny Appellant's motion to bar all victim impact evidence (T145-6). The other motion was also denied with the observation that the trial judge would have the responsibility to ensure that the victim impact evidence and argument did not become unfairly prejudicial (T147-8).

Trial commenced on April 12, 1993, before Senior Circuit Judge E. L. Eastmoore (T203). During jury selection, the court denied Appellant's challenges for cause to prospective jurors Panico, Bunting, Flanders, and Nieves (T715-7, 721, 722, 1015). Defense counsel expended peremptory strikes in order to remove these prospective jurors (T729, 733, 1020). After exhausting his peremptory challenges, Appellant requested more; but the court denied his request (T1020-2). A juror who actually sat was identified as one who Appellant would have struck if granted an additional peremptory challenge (T1022-3).

In his "Motion in Limine to Exclude Statements Made by Defendant", Appellant argued that admission of his statements when questioned by law enforcement was improper in a penalty trial because he had already been adjudicated guilty (R413-4, T229-34). After the trial judge denied the motion in limine (T235), the prosecutor stated in opening argument that the jury would hear many untruthful

statements by Appellant to the police (T1058-9). Defense counsel moved for a mistrial on the ground that the State was essentially presenting the nonstatutory aggravating circumstance that Trotter had lied to the police (T1065). After the court denied the motion for mistrial, Appellant continued to object whenever Appellant's lack of truthfulness was brought into evidence (T1193, 1205, 1260, 1289-90).

During the penalty trial, Appellant again moved for mistrial when the prosecutor mentioned an accusation that Trotter had once assaulted someone with a 2x4 piece of lumber (T1580-1). In denying the motion for mistrial, the court ruled that defense counsel had opened the door (T1581). When defense witness Dr. Frank Wood wanted to present demonstrative evidence of what constituted "normal" PET scan results, the court ruled it inadmissible for lack of consensus by the scientific community (T1745-50). Defense counsel objected to the jury instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor (2018-9).

During the prosecutor's closing argument, Appellant moved for mistrial on numerous grounds (T2068-74). The court denied the motions for mistrial and declined to give any curative instruction (T2074, 2077). The jury returned a recommendation that Trotter be sentenced to death (T2123, R455).

Post-trial but prior to sentencing, Circuit Judge Dakan held a hearing on Appellant's "Amended Motion to Bar Death Penalty in Resentencing of Melvin Trotter Based Upon Arbitrary, Discriminatory and Impermissible Racial Grounds" (R462-77, 2129-48). Defense

counsel stated that he was seeking a full-fledged evidentiary hearing on racial discrimination in capital prosecutions by the State Attorney in Manatee County (T2138). The court ruled that the facts alleged in the motion were insufficient to warrant an evidentiary hearing under the test set forth in <u>Foster v. State</u>, 614 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. den.</u>, _ U.S. _, 114 S. Ct. 398, 126 L. Ed. 2d 346 (1993) (T2143).

Appellant's "Motion for New Sentencing Hearing" (R478-88) was denied without hearing on July 19, 1993 (T560).

A sentencing hearing was conducted before Judge Eastmoore on July 23, 1993 (T2150-94). After hearing argument from counsel, the court recessed briefly and returned with findings (T2188). In open court, the judge read his written sentencing order (T2188-93, R543-7). He found five aggravating circumstances: 1) under sentence of imprisonment or community control; 2) prior conviction for violent felony; 3) while engaged in the commission of a robbery; 4) "especially wicked, evil, atrocious and cruel"; 5) pecuniary gain (R543-5, see Appendix). In mitigation, the court found: 1) extreme mental and emotional disturbance; 2) substantially impaired capacity; 3) below average IQ, family and developmental problems; 4) frontal lobe brain disorder; 5) remorse; 6) "other nonstatutory presented by the Defendant" (R545-6. see Appendix). The court found that the aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating circumstances and imposed a sentence of death (R546-7, see Appendix).

Jurisdiction lies in this Court pursuant to Article V, section 3 (b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(1)(A)(i).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

STATE'S EVIDENCE

In the mid-afternoon of June 16, 1986, emergency medical technicians responded to a call at Langford's Grocery in Palmetto (T1075-6). Lying behind the deli counter they found the proprietor, Virgie Langford, who had been stabbed several times (T1077-8). One of the wounds was an evisceration, which resulted in the victim's intestines protruding from her body (T1078).

The victim was conscious and responsive to questions (T1080). She identified her attacker as a short black man wearing a Tropicana employee badge (T1103). She related that she had been choked (T1128, 1165). Ms. Langford mouned and complained about being in a lot of pain (T1099).

Emergency Medical Technician, Frank Tona, described the treatment which he and the paramedics performed at the scene (T1101-2). The victim was transported to Manatee Memorial Hospital (T1102).

Dr. Henry Smoak was on duty in the emergency room when Ms. Langford was brought in (T1112). She arrived in a state of hypovolemic shock from loss of blood (T1113). The doctor described the treatment which he performed, including the return of the victim's intestines to the interior of her abdomen (T1114-6). He characterized the stab wounds as "brutal" and "unusual" (T1116-7). Dr. Smoak further testified that surgery was later performed on the victim by Dr. Ganey (T1118). Langford survived the operation, but

died later that night of cardiac arrest because her blood clotting system stopped functioning (T1118).

Dr. James Ganey, the cardiothoracic surgeon, also testified for the State (T1403-13). He said that during surgery, he extended the wound which had caused evisceration in order to get sufficient access to her abdomen (T1405-6). He noted that there were lacerations to the liver and the pancreas as well as the stomach (T1406-8). Dr. Ganey stated that patients in hypovolemic shock usually don't feel much pain; but initially the wounds cause extreme pain (T1411).

Former medical examiner, James Spencer, testified that he performed the autopsy on Virgie Langford (T1330). In addition to the eviscerating wound on the left side of her body, Dr. Spencer found six stab wounds on the right side (T1332-6). His examination of the neck area showed abrasions which appeared to be fingernail marks (T1341). There were also internal injuries to the neck consistent with an attempted manual strangulation (T1341-2). The witness was shown a knife which belonged to the victim; he agreed that it could have caused the stabbing injuries (T1343). The doctor's diagnosis of the cause of death was cardiac arrhythmia brought on by the injuries, blood loss, and stress (T1344).

Another medical examiner, Joan Wood, from the Sixth Judicial Circuit was called to testify (T1439-52). She reviewed the autopsy report and photos as well as the medical records and sworn testimony from the treating physicians (T1441). Disagreeing with Dr. Spencer, she testified that it would take "a severe amount of

force" to inflict the cutting wound on the abdomen (T1446). She also gave her opinion that it was "not reasonable" to suggest that the injury could have occurred by the victim's movement while the knife was held in place (T1447).

Elenora Oates testified that on the afternoon of June 16, 1986, she was at a friend's house when she saw Appellant running from the direction of the store (T1304-5). Appellant asked her if she knew where he could get a "slab" of rock cocaine and she went with him to buy some (T1306-7). They went to Appellant's mother's house to smoke it (T1307). She helped him count money and food stamps that Trotter had tied in a red bandanna (T1307). When she asked where he got the money and food stamps, he replied that he had done "a little job" (T1308). They continued to buy more crack cocaine that afternoon, spending around \$100 total (T1309). Appellant asked her to say that they were both there all day watching TV (T1313).

Herbert Van Fleet, formerly a detective lieutenant with the Palmetto Police Department, testified that descriptions from the victim and a witness led him to the personnel department of Tropicana looking for a black male employee named Melvin (T1189). Around 2:00 p.m. the day after the homicide, Appellant was brought into Van Fleet's office for questioning (T1192).

Over objection, Van Fleet testified that Trotter initially denied ever being in Langford's Grocery (T1193, 1200, 1203). Subsequently, between 2:52 p.m. and midnight Appellant gave four taperecorded statements (T1201, 1204). Over Appellant's objection,

each of the four tapes was played for the jury (T1212-9, 1226-38, 1244-57, 1261-71). During the course of the four statements, Trotter gradually admitted greater involvement; eventually he acknowledged that he had taken money from the cash register and got into a "scuffle" with Ms. Langford over the knife (T1268). Appellant didn't remember the details of the "scuffle", only that there was blood and he saw the victim's intestines hanging out (T1270-1).

In addition to the admissions, the State also presented evidence that Trotter's palmprints were found on the front side of the meat cooler in the grocery store (T1392-4). A T-shirt seized from Appellant's residence had blood stains which were consistent with Ms. Langford's blood type (T1169-70, 1420). A stipulation of the parties that Trotter had been convicted for robbery with a deadly weapon and the first-degree murder of Virgie Langford was published to the jury (T1402).

Probation and Parole Officer Kenneth Botbyl testified that Appellant was on his community control caseload on the date that the offense took place (T1425). Trotter had been placed on community control as punishment for conviction of robbery September 12, 1985 (T1425-6). The judgment for that robbery was also published to the jury (T1427).

In the nature of victim impact evidence, the State presented testimony from Timothy Matthews. the victim's grandson, and Charles McKnight, her son-in-law (T1280-1302, 1429-33). Ms. Langford had four children, ten grandchildren, and one or two great grandchildren (T1429-30). She had operated a grocery store at that location

for about thirty years (T1281). In September 1985, Ms. Langford had undergone open heart surgery and was still recuperating at the time of this incident (T1288, 1430-1). Despite her family's urging that she give up the grocery business after the heart surgery, she insisted upon reopening (T1295, 1431-2).

Both witnesses agreed that the victim had treated her customers very well (T1294, 1433). If they didn't have money to pay for their food, she would extend credit to them (T1301, 1433). She was well-liked and respected in the community of Palmetto (T1302).

DEFENSE EVIDENCE

Appellant presented evidence which related to the statutory mitigating circumstances of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and substantially impaired capacity [\$\$921.141 (6)(b) & (f)]. He also relied upon evidence establishing the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances of a) child of rape, b) fatherless, c) alcoholic mother, d) emotional deprivation, e) physical abuse from his mother, f) neglect from his mother, g) abusive unhealthy foster care, h) educationally deprived, i) violent death of his sister, j) remorse, k) borderline mentally retarded, l) organic brain defect, m) cocaine dependence, and n) good behavior while in custody (see R447, T2173-5).

§921.141 (6)(b), Fla. Stat.

Dr. Harry Krop, a clinical psychologist, testified that Appellant didn't have any major mental illness (T1545). He had a fron-

tal lobe disorder which Dr. Krop attributed to brain damage (T1545). Cocaine dependency and craving for the drug was another major factor in the homicide (T1545-6). Unlike most death row inmates, Trotter does not have antisocial personality disorder (T1546).

Dr. Frank Balch Wood, a neuropsychologist, gave his opinion that the cocaine craving Trotter suffered qualified as an extreme mental or emotional disturbance (T1778, 1817). Dr. Michael Maher, a psychiatrist, agreed that cocaine addiction is a mental and emotional disorder (T1843). He further explained that the abnormal functioning of the frontal lobes in Trotter's brain was a mental disorder (T1843). Trotter further suffered from "an emotional disorder related to the background of deprivation and abuse and of violence which he was exposed to" (T1843).

§921.141 (6)(f), Fla. Stat.

Dr. Krop gave his opinion that Trotter's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired at the time of the offense (T1602, 1604). He explained that Appellant is someone with limited intellectual ability, limited coping mechanisms, and impaired judgment (T1609). The need to get money to finance his cocaine habit distorted Trotter's perception of reality and caused him to overreact when confronted by the victim (T1609-10).

Dr. Wood agreed that Trotter had a lower inhibitory selfcontrol capacity and stated that it might be hereditary (T1773-6). He noted that Appellant's father was a rapist; indicating that the father also had an inhibitory self-control problem as well (T1773). The doctor also considered the lack of planning shown by the fact that Trotter entered the store unarmed and made no effort to conceal his identification badge (T1775-6). The brutality of the homicide led Dr. Wood to characterize the event as "an explosion of violence" (T1775).

Cocaine addiction was the primary factor, according to Dr. Maher, which caused Appellant's impaired capacity (T1843-4). Cocaine addicts "do the most horrible and outrageous things" because of the insidious effects of the drug itself (T1844). They lose their ability to conform their behavior to the requirements of law (T1844). In addition, Trotter's frontal lobe dysfunction and the history of violence in his family contributed to diminish "his capacity to appreciate that what he was doing was wrong" (T1845).

a) Child of Rape

During Dr. Krop's interview with Ola Mae Wright, Appellant's mother, he learned that she didn't know who fathered Appellant (T1494). She became pregnant when she was accosted while walking home from work, dragged into the woods, and raped (T1495). She never reported the rape (T1495). Her child, Appellant, has the same "gray catlike" eyes that the rapist had (T1495).

b) Fatherless

During Appellant's early years, his mother lived for a time with a Melvin Trotter, who fathered some of her other thirteen children (T1493, 1499). Appellant took his name from this man although he was not the biological father (T1499). When Appellant was about nine years old, HRS took the children away from Ms. Wright and they grew up in foster homes (T1503-4).

c) Alcoholic Mother

Dr. Krop testified that when he interviewed Appellant's mother, she appeared to have been drinking prior to his visit (T1494). Both the HRS records and the foster family with which Appellant was placed indicate that the mother was an alcoholic (T1499-1500). The records reported that Ms. Wright spent much of her time drinking in bars and, as a young child, Appellant would have to go looking in bars to find his mother when he wanted something to eat (T1500).

d) Emotional Deprivation

Dr. Maher testified that Trotter's background "could be summarized by saying that there was a horrendous and relentless exposure
to chaos, deprivation, and violence by his biological family and by
his foster family subsequently" (T1834). Trotter's home environment with his mother was so detrimental that HRS removed him and
placed him in foster care at about age 9 (T1504). Because the foster care facility did not abide by the HRS rules, Appellant "did

not get the kind of attention that you are supposed to get in a foster environment (T1508).

e) Physical Abuse from his Mother

Both Appellant and his mother told Dr. Krop about incidents of physical abuse which took place while Appellant was a child (T1499). The mother's grandfather was described as "a very mean individual" who slapped the whole family around (T1499). Appellant also related that his mother had beat him with extension cords while he was growing up (T1499).

f) Neglect from his Mother

Ola Mae Wright told Dr. Krop that because she was working while Appellant was an infant, he was mostly taken care of by friends and other people (T1497-8). HRS records and the foster family indicated that Appellant was provided with very little food or clothing (T1498). Around age five and six, Appellant would frequently have to look for his mother in bars in order to get food (T1500). The mother's neglect was the reason Appellant was removed from his home by HRS and placed into foster care (T1498).

q) Abusive Unhealthy Foster Care

Priscilla Ridall, who had worked for the Manatee County Health Department, testified that she had been responsible for inspecting foster homes and similar facilities (T1621). Once a year she conducted an inspection of all the foster homes in the county and

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