IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAN 9 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By j Chief Deputy Clerk

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MELVIN TROTTER,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 82,142

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Westwood Center Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

OF COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The trial court correctly permitted evidence of appellant's community control status to be introduced. The ex post facto claim is meritless and the law of the case contention is procedurally barred for not being urged in the lower court. It too is meritless and this Court should recognize the applicability of amended F.S. 921.141(5)(a). In any event, any error would be harmless in light of the totality of evidence and the trial judge's sentencing order.

III. Use of victim impact evidence did not violate the ex
post facto clause. See <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282, 53
L.Ed.2d 344 (1977); <u>Glendening v. State</u>, 536 So. 2d 212 (Fla.
1988); <u>State v. Maxwell</u>, _____ So. 2d ____, 19 Fla. Law Weekly D
1706 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994).

IV. The lower court did not err in ruling the two year time limit applicable to appellant's belated attempt to challenge his

- 8 -

1985 conviction. Moreover, the evidentiary hearing established that the facts supporting the challenge were available and known to the defense team in 1986 or 1987 and not used.

V. The lower court did not err in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on the claim that prosecutorial racial bias played a role in seeking the death penalty. That which was proffered by the defense did not satisfy the standard of <u>Foster</u> <u>v. State</u>, 164 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 1992) and appellant alleged no facts suggesting racial bias by prosecutor Crow.

VI. The lower court did not err in denying challenges for cause to prospective jurors Bunting, Flanders, and Nieves. The claim is not preserved since appellant accepted the jury without renewal of his prior objections (Tr 1027). Any error would be harmless. A review of the totality of the record demonstrates the claim is meritless.

VII. The lower court did not error in denying a challenge for cause to prospective jury Panico since she had not formed any opinions and could weigh all information prior to making a decision. The trial court in the best position to observe the juror's demeanor did not abuse its discretion.

VIII. The state did not introduce evidence of nonstatutory aggravation. Evidence regarding appellant's lies to the police was relevant to the HAC and robbery-pecuniary gain aggravators and tended to rebut or reduce the credibility of his other selfserving statements to defense-retained mental health experts (who relied in part on appellant's confessions). The state's cross-

- 9 -

examination of defense witness Krop including the reported assault committed by Trotter was proper since appellant opened the door to the expert's reporting appellant's life history and prosecutor may fully inquire into the history used by an expert in forming an opinion. <u>Parker v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 1985).

IX. The prosecutor's comments during closing argument were supported by the evidence and constituted legitimate advocacy. The comments presently challenged were either not preserved below or simply do not call for a reversal of the sentence imposed. If there were any error, it is harmless.

X. The trial court did not improperly double up robbery and pecuniary gain as it contemporaneously stated it was considering it as one factor (Tr 2193 - 94) after similarly correctly instructing the jury in that regard (Tr 2115). The trial court properly evaluated the mitigating evidence presented.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF COMMUNITY CONTROL STATUS AS AN AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IN VIOLATION OF THE LAW OF THE CASE AND EX POST FACTO PROVISIONS.

Prior to resentencing appellant filed a motion to prohibit application of F.S. 921.141(5)(a) relying on the ex post facto and due process clauses (R 372 - 374). At a hearing on November 13, 1992, the trial court heard argument (Tr 117 - 129).

In order to satisfy the brief-page limitation rule, appellee will not quote at length from the prosecutor's argument below, but instead adopt and incorporate by reference the argument at Tr 122 - 126. Attached as Exhibit I is the excerpt of that argument.

The trial court denied the motion, ruling:

"THE COURT: Well, I think under the circumstances, as I understand the Florida law and the penalty phase, I think they start out with what they referred to as the socalled clean slate rule. I think Mr. Crow sort of alluded to that when he talked about a case is sent back for a new penalty phase, if in the first penalty phase, and for whatever reasons, one of the aggravating circumstances wasn't presented, there's nothing that precludes the State from presenting that aggravating circumstances in the second one; likewise, I assume the same would apply to any mitigating circumstances that might have been not presented the first time, could certainly be presented the second and perhaps that would include time, а So I'll deny the motion, statutory one. assuming the State seeks to prove that, which I assume they will, and deny the motion."

- 11 -

A. The law of the case contention --

Appellee would first submit that this argument should not be entertained since not urged below. <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 570 So. 2d 902 (Fla. 1990). In the lower court appellant argued that use of the amended F.S. 921.141(5)(a) aggravator violated ex post facto and due process by rendering the prior appeal a nullity, the latter a type of <u>North Carolina v. Pearce</u>, 395 U.S. 711, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969), argument which was addressed by the prosecutor's response at Tr 122. This claim (that there has been a violation of the law of the case doctrine) is, consequently, procedurally barred because not urged below.

But even if preserved, relief should be denied. Appellant cites <u>Santos v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 838 (Fla. 1994), wherein the court condemned the trial court's action when, without the presentation of additional evidence, on remand the lower court erred in ignoring the clear instructions of the Court's decision regarding the presence of the CCP aggravator. The trial court in <u>Santos</u> was simply attempting, improperly, to override this Court on the CCP finding; in the instant case, the trial court was merely giving effect to an intervening legislative clarification

¹ The mistrial request mentioned by appellant during the prosecutor's opening statement was not for referring to the community control status of Trotter as an aggravating factor but for mentioning house arrest. (Tr 1067).

of the statute, of which this Court had not been apprised. Moreover, since a resentencing proceeding operates as a "clean slate" on the parties -- see <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404, 408 (Fla. 1992), <u>Hall v. State</u>, 164 So. 2d 473, 477 (Fla. 1993); <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, 495 So. 2d 744 (Fla. 1986) -- the trial court was obligated to give effect simultaneously perhaps to two warring principles and resolved the tension appropriately by honoring the legislature's enactment.²

In <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990), this Court rejected an ex post facto argument similar to that advanced by Trotter:

> In our original opinion in this case, [27] we noted that the court could have found committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment in aggravation because Hitchcock was on parole at the time of this crime. 413 So. 2d at 747 n. 6. The court found this aggravator applicable on resentencing. Hitchcock now argues that this is an ex post facto violation and constitutes double jeopardy because this Court did not recognize parole as the equivalent of being under sentence of imprisonment until Aldridge v. State, 351 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 1977), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 882, 99 S.Ct. 220, 58 L.Ed.2d 194 (1978).Resentencing proceedings, however, are completely new proceedings. King v.

² Even if this Court were to conclude that it is appropriate to apply the reasoning of <u>Brunner Enterprises v. Department of</u> <u>Revenue</u>, 452 So. 2d 550 (Fla. 1984), this Court now has jurisdiction and the opportunity to change the law of the case and it would be in the interest of justice to conform its earlier decision to the legislative enactment, Chapter 91 - 270, section 1, Laws of Florida (1991). See also <u>United States v. Robinson</u>, 690 F.2d 869 (11th Cir. 1982).

Dugger, 555 So. 2d 355 (Fla. 1990). These expost facto and double jeopardy claims are of no merit because the resentencing occurred after we released Aldridge. See Spaziano v. State, 433 So. 2d 508 (Fla. 1983), aff'd, 468 U.S. 447, 104 S.Ct. 3154, 82 L.Ed.2d 340 (1984).

(text at 693)

Appellant argues that the prosecutor misread this authority below. The prosecutor, of course, was responding to an ex post facto argument urged below not a law of the case argument not presented. <u>Hitchcock</u> supports the state on the ex post facto issue and does not address a law of the case problem.

B. Ex post facto --

As noted by the prosecutor below the courts have upheld newly-enacted or new case law interpretations of aggravating factors applied to persons who prior thereto had committed their offenses. See, e.g., with regard to the CCP aggravating factor Combs v. State, 403 So. 2d 418, 421 (Fla. 1981); Zeigler v. State, 580 So. 2d 127 (Fla. 1991); Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450, 454 (Fla. 1991); Foster v. State, 614 So. 2d 455, 461, n. 7 (Fla. 1992); see also Valle v. State, 581 So. 2d 40, 47 (Fla. 1991) (upholding against an ex post facto challenge the new aggravator that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties since this was not an entirely new factor and the defendant was not disadvantaged by Jackson v. State, ____ So. 2d ___, 19 Fla. Law its application. Weekly S 215, 218 (Fla. 1994); Hitchcock v. State, 578 So. 2d 685, 693 (Fla. 1990), vacated on other grounds, 120 L.Ed.2d 892

(1992) (use of on parole to support under sentence of imprisonment aggravator when resentencing occurred after decision announced in Aldridge v. State, 351 So. 2d 942).

Appellant argues that the Combs-Valle line of cases is distinguishable because the new aggravating factors at issue there were not entirely new but a part of what had been the law. The same is true here. The legislature has not added a whole new aggravator not previously enacted but has only explained that community control is and has the same effect as a sentence of imprisonment. F.S. 921.141(5)(a). See also State v. Smith, 547 So. 2d 613, 617 (Fla. 1989) (J. Shaw, concurring in part and dissenting in part) (citing Lowry v. Parole and Probation Commission, 473 So. 2d 1248, 1250 that where an amendment to a statute is enacted soon after controversies arise as to the interpretation of the original act a court may consider the amendment as a legislative interpretation of the original law and not as a substantive change thereof). State v. Lanier, 464 So. 2d 1192 (Fla. 1984); Lincoln v. Florida Parole Commission, So. 2d , 19 Fla. Law Weekly D 2176 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). It should be noted that on Trotter's prior appeal, two Justices, McDonald and Grimes, were of the view that community control was covered by the then-existing aggravating factor 5(a). Trotter v. State, 576 So. 2d at 695 - 696.

The aggravating factor F.S. 921.141(5)(a) existed <u>prior</u> to appellant's murder of Mrs. Langford and thus, there is no ex post facto violation.

- 15 -

Appellant's reliance on United States Supreme Court decisions is unavailing. In Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 67 L.Ed.2d 17 (1981) a statute was deemed violative of the ex post facto clause because it reduced the amount of gain time deductible from a prisoner's sentence -- the prisoner was disadvantaged by lengthening the time he spent in prison. In Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987) a revised sentencing guidelines statute also disadvantaged the defendant by providing a greater punishment than at the time of the commission of the offense (a presumptive sentence of five and one-half to seven years versus three and one-half to four and one-half years and an actual received sentence of seven years).

In <u>Dobbert v. Florida</u>, 432 U.S. 282, 53 L.Ed.2d 344 (1977), the Court rejected an ex post facto argument by a prisoner who committed his first degree murder for which he received the death penalty prior to the enactment of the new capital statute. As <u>Dobbert</u> recognized, citing from <u>Hopt v. Utah</u>, 110 U.S. 574, 28 L.Ed. 262:

> "The crime for which the present defendant was indicted, the punishment prescribed therefor, and the quantity or the degree of proof necessary to establish his guilt all remained unaffected by the subsequent statute."

> > (53 L.Ed.2d at 357).

See also <u>Thompson v. Missouri</u>, 171 U.S. 380, 43 L.Ed. 204 (1898) (no ex post facto violation by change in law making certain evidence admissible). Similarly, in the instant case,

- 16 -

the legislative change did not criminalize formerly innocent conduct, alter the penalty for a criminal offense or change the degree of proof necessary to establish guilt; it merely clarified its intent that community control was a type of sentence of incarceration as Justice McDonald had explained in his dissenting opinion. 576 So. 2d at 695 - 696.

C. <u>Harmless error</u> -- Even if the Court were to reject appellee's previous argument, any error on this point is harmless. In his findings supporting the death sentence the trial judge declared:

> The crime for which the Defendant was "(1) sentenced was committed while the to be Defendant was on community control. This the required of which reversal the factor sentence on the original appeal. The statute was subsequently amended to include community Although the control (F.S. 921.141, 1991). state was permitted to introduce evidence of this factor, this Court would have reached the same conclusion without this evidence."

> > (emphasis supplied) (R 544)

In light of the multiple remaining unchallenged aggravators (prior violent felony conviction, homicide while engaged in commission of robbery for pecuniary gain, HAC) the result would not be different³

³ Moreover, the prosecutor made only fleeting reference to the sentence of imprisonment -- community control aggravator in his fifty-page closing argument (Tr 2032, 2048, 2054, 2065).

ISSUE II

WHETHER FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141(7) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER ARTICLE I, SECTION 17 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT, UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Appellant filed a motion to prohibit application of Florida Statue 921.141(7) as violative of the ex post facto clause (R 244 - 247). He also filed a motion to exclude evidence or argument designed to create sympathy for the deceased.⁴ (R 225 -243) and a motion to preclude victim impact evidence (R 20 - 21). The motions were denied (R 397; Tr 131 - 148).

In <u>State v. Maxwell</u> _____ So. 2d _____ 19 Fla. Law Weekly, D 1706 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), the Fourth District Court of Appeal upheld the constitutional validity of Florida Statute 921.141(7) and the admissibility of victim impact evidence:

Section 921.141, Florida Statues, was amended in 1992 to provide:

Victim Impact Evidence. --(7) Once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more aggravating circumstances as described in subsection (5), the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions

⁴ This motion was granted "except for victim impact evidence and argument presented according to law." (R 399).

about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not be permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

Another statute, section 921.143, Florida Statutes, allows victim statements about the existence of harm resulting from the crime being prosecuted at any felony sentencing. Article 1, Section 16(b) of the Florida Constitution provides that victims of crime, including the next of kin of homicide victims are entitled to be heard in criminal proceedings, to the extent that doing so does interfere not with а defendant's constitutional rights.

The trial court held that section 921.141(7) was unconstitutional for several reasons, including that the statute: (1) interferes with the weighing of aggravating and mitigating factors and will cause arbitrary and capricious results; (2) lacks guidance to the judge on weighing factors; (3) precludes introduction of mitigating evidence; (4) violates the separation of powers doctrine by delegating judicial power reserved to the supreme court, and (5) violates Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution prohibiting the legislature from passing ex post facto laws.

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